
 
AGENDA 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
5000 CLARK AVENUE 

LAKEWOOD, CALIFORNIA 
 

October 9, 2018 
 
 
 
ADJOURNED MEETING:  Ordinance No. 2018-6 6:30 p.m. 
 EXECUTIVE BOARD ROOM 
 
CALL TO ORDER 7:30 p.m. 
 
INVOCATION:  Pastor Chuck Franco, Life Center Church 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  Girl Scout Brownie Troop 2803 
 
ROLL CALL: Mayor Steve Croft 
 Vice Mayor Todd Rogers 
 Council Member Diane DuBois 
 Council Member Ron Piazza 
 Council Member Jeff Wood 
 
ANNOUNCEMENTS AND PRESENTATIONS: 
 
ROUTINE ITEMS: 
All items listed within this section of the agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted by one 
motion without separate discussion.  Any Member of Council may request an item be removed for 
individual discussion or further explanation.  All items removed shall be considered immediately 
following action on the remaining items. 
 
RI-1 MEETING MINUTES - Staff recommends City Council approve Minutes of the Meetings held 

August 14, August 28, and September 4, 2018 
 
RI-2 PERSONNEL TRANSACTIONS - Staff recommends City Council approve report of personnel 

transactions. 
 
RI-3 REGISTERS OF DEMANDS - Staff recommends City Council approve registers of demands. 
 
RI-4 RESOLUTION NO. 2018-62; AMENDING RESOLUTION NO. 2017-12 SO THAT ALL 

COMMISSIONERS’ TERMS RUN THROUGH THE NEXT MUNICIPAL ELECTION - Staff 
recommends City Council adopt proposed resolution. 

 
LEGISLATION: 
2.1 ORDINANCE NO. 2018-6; AMENDING THE LAKEWOOD MUNICIPAL CODE AND THE 

ZONING ORDINANCE REGARDING THE LOCATION, DESIGN AND OPERATION OF 
COMMERCIAL CARWASHES - Staff recommends City Council adopt proposed ordinance. 

 



In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you are a qualified individual with a disability and need an 
accommodation to participate in the City Council meeting, please contact the City Clerk’s Office, 5050 Clark Avenue, Lakewood, 

CA, at 562/866-9771, ext. 2200; or at cityclerk@lakewoodcity.org at least 48 hours in advance to ensure that reasonable 
arrangements can be made to provide accessibility to the meeting. 

 
Agenda items are on file in the Office of the City Clerk, 5050 Clark Avenue, Lakewood, and are available for public review 

during regular business hours.  Any supplemental material distributed after the posting of the agenda will be made available for 
public inspection during normal business hours in the City Clerk’s Office.  For your convenience, the agenda and the supporting 

documents are available in an alternate format by request and are also posted on the City’s website at www.lakewoodcity.org 

City Council Agenda 
October 9, 2018 
Page 2 
 

 

LEGISLATION: - Continued 
2.2 ORDINANCE NO. 2018-7; AMENDING THE LAKEWOOD MUNICIPAL CODE AND THE 

ZONING ORDINANCE REGARDING THE SHORT-TERM RENTALS OF RESIDENTIAL 
PROPERTIES AND REQUIRING A BUSINESS LICENSE AND TRANSIENT OCCUPANCY 
TAX FOR SUCH SHORT-TERM RENTALS - Staff recommends City Council adopt proposed 
ordinance. 

 
2.3 ORDINANCE NO. 2018-8; AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

LAKEWOOD AMENDING THE MUNICIPAL CODE PERTAINING TO COMPENSATION OF 
MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL - Staff recommends City Council adopt proposed ordinance. 

 
REPORTS: 
3.1 TGIS CATERED EVENTS AT MONTE VERDE PARK - Staff recommends City Council 

authorize Mayor to sign an Agreement with TGIS for Catering and Concession Services at Monte 
Verde Park. 

 
3.2 LAKEWOOD MEALS ON WHEELS AGREEMENT - FIRST AMENDMENT - Staff recommends 

City Council authorize Mayor to sign first amendment to Rental Agreement with Lakewood Meals 
On Wheels. 

 
 

AGENDA 
LAKEWOOD SUCCESSOR AGENCY 

1. REGISTER OF DEMANDS - Staff recommends Successor Agency approve registers of demands. 
 
 

AGENDA 
LAKEWOOD HOUSING SUCCESSOR AGENCY 

1. REGISTER OF DEMANDS - Staff recommends Housing Successor Agency approve registers of 
demands. 

 
 
ORAL COMMUNICATIONS: 
 
ADJOURNMENT 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 RI-1 

 Routine Item 1 – City Council Minutes 
 
 will be available prior to the meeting. 





RI-2 

  COUNCIL AGENDA 
  October 9, 2018 

 
 
 
TO:   The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT: Report of Personnel Transactions 
 

Effective 
Name Title  Schedule Date 

 
1.  FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES 

 
A. Appointments 
 None 
 
B. Changes 
 William Holland Skilled Trades Worker 13A to 09/23/2018 
  Skilled Trades Lead Worker 18A 
 
C. Separations 
 None 
 

2. PART-TIME EMPLOYEES 
 
A. Appointments 

None 
 
B. Changes 

Kyrstin Constantino Recreation Leader II A to 09/23/2018 
 Community Services Leader III B 

 
Daniel Lopez Maintenance Trainee I B to 09/23/2018 
 Maintenance Trainee II B 

 
C. Separations  

Cody Aldridge Maintenance Services Aide I B 08/26/2018 
 

Freddie Reyes Maintenance Trainee I B 08/29/2018 
 
 
 

    Thaddeus McCormack 
   City Manager 































RI-4 

 COUNCIL AGENDA 
 October 9, 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
TO:  Honorable Mayor and members of the City Council 
 
SUBJECT: Resolution No. 2018-62 Pertaining to Terms of City Commissioners  
 
 
BACKGROUND 
Senate Bill 415 (SB 415) compelled all California cities to consolidate their general municipal 
elections with a statewide election date (March or November of even years), not later than 
November 2022.  Accordingly, on September 11, 2018, the City Council took action to change 
the City Council Election scheduled for March of 2019 to March of 2020.  In so much as the 
terms of City Commissioners anticipated and corresponded with the March 2019 date, there is 
a need to extend the terms of City Commissioners, similar to the extension to the City Council 
terms, so that incumbent Commissioner terms run up to and through the next Municipal 
Election. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
It is recommended that the City Council adopt Resolution No. 2018-62 Amending Resolution 
No. 2017-12 so that all Commissioners’ terms run through the next Municipal Election. 
 
 
 
Thaddeus McCormack 



RESOLUTION NO. 2018-62 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
LAKEWOOD AMENDING RESOLUTION NO. 2017-12 SO THAT 
ALL COMMISSIONERS’ TERMS RUN THROUGH THE NEXT 
MUNICIPAL ELECTION. 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD DOES RESOLVE AS 

FOLLOWS: 
 

SECTION 1. Resolution No. 2017-12 is hereby amended to provide that the terms of all 
Commissioners listed in such Resolution shall terminate with the second Council meeting 
following the next general municipal election. 

  
SECTION 2.  Except as amended herein, Resolution No. 2017-12 shall remain in full 

force and effect. 
 

SECTION 3.  If any section, subsection, subdivision, paragraph, sentence, clause or 
phrase in this Resolution, or any part hereof, is held invalid or unconstitutional, such decision 
shall not affect the validity of the remaining sections or portions of this Resolution.  The City 
Council hereby declares that it would have adopted each section, subsection, subdivision, 
paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase in this Resolution irrespective of the fact that any one or 
more sections, subsections, subdivisions, paragraphs, sentences, clauses or phrases may be 
declared invalid or unconstitutional. 
 

SECTION 4.  The City Clerk shall certify to the adoption of this Resolution. 
 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS _____ DAY OF _______________, 2018. 
 
 
 
       ___________________________________ 
       Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
City Clerk 





 



2.1 

 ORDINANCE NO. 2018-6 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
LAKEWOOD AMENDING THE LAKEWOOD MUNICIPAL 
CODE AND THE ZONING ORDINANCE REGARDING THE 
LOCATION, DESIGN AND OPERATION OF COMMERCIAL 
CARWASHES. 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD DOES ORDAIN AS 

FOLLOWS: 
 
 SECTION 1. PURPOSE.  The purpose of this Ordinance is to establish additional 
locational criteria, development standards, and operational guidelines pertaining to commercial 
carwashes.  Recently during consideration and review of proposed commercial carwashes, 
concerns have raised regarding the adequacy of carwash regulations pertaining to operational noise 
and traffic generation in close proximity to residential areas.   

This Ordinance will allow new carwashes to be established only in the C-4, M-1, and M-2 
zones and will no longer allow them to be established in the C-1 or C-3 zones.  This applies to all 
types of carwashes including self-serve, full service, hand wash, detailing and those constructed 
in conjunction with a service station. 

Any carwash that was approved prior to, and that approval was still valid on the effective 
date of this Ordinance, shall remain as a fully authorized land use.  These existing carwashes shall 
be allowed to submit amendments to the previously approved conditional use permit to allow 
modifications that will be subject to the review and discretion of the Planning and Environment 
Commission.  This Ordinance establishes standards for parking spaces at a new carwash facility. 

 
SECTION 2. Section 9340. Uses Permitted of Part 4 C-1 (Neighborhood Commercial) 

Zone Regulations of Chapter 3 Zoning of Article IX of the Lakewood Municipal Code, Subsection 
9340.C.2. (c). (7), regarding standards for Service Stations allowing hand washing of automobiles 
is hereby deleted. 

 
SECTION 3. Subsection 9341. B Limitations of Uses Permitted of Part 4 C-1 

(Neighborhood Commercial) Zone Regulations of Chapter 3 Zoning of Article IX of the Lakewood 
Municipal Code, is amended to read as follows: 

 
B. All uses shall be conducted wholly within a building except a plant nursery, gasoline, 
oil or petroleum product pumps, newsstand, outdoor advertising, commercial parking lots, 
vehicular parking and loading spaces, outdoor accessory uses, displays, and storage, which 
are normal and incidental to the primary permitted commercial use, where otherwise 
allowed or authorized by this Part.  No required vehicle storage space or landscaped area 
shall be devoted to outdoor displays or storage.  

 
  



Ordinance No. 2018-6 
Commercial Carwash Ordinance 
Page 2 
 

SECTION 4. Section 9341.J. Service Stations of Part 4 C-1 (Neighborhood Commercial) 
Zone Regulations of Chapter 3 Zoning of Article IX of the Lakewood Municipal Code, Subsection 
9341.J.6, regarding automobile washing is hereby deleted. 

 
SECTION 5. Section 9347. Uses Permitted of Part 4a C-3 (Intermediate Commercial) 

Zone Regulations of Chapter 3 Zoning of Article IX of the Lakewood Municipal Code, Subsection 
9347.D.11, is amended to read as follows: 
 

D. USES PERMITTED SUBJECT TO CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT.  The following 
uses are permitted provided that in each instance a conditional use permit has been obtained and 
continues in full force and effect: 
… 

11. Commercial Carwash.  Any commercial carwash that was approved with a 
conditional use permit prior to and that was valid on the effective date of this Ordinance, 
shall remain as a fully authorized land use.  A valid previously approved carwash shall not 
be subject to Part 9 of Article IX of the Lakewood Municipal Code, commencing with 
Section 9390, relating to Nonconforming Buildings and Uses.  A valid previously approved 
carwash shall be allowed to submit amendments to the approved conditional use permit to 
modify the previously approved carwash, subject to the review and discretion of the 
Planning and Environment Commission.  The review of any proposed revised design shall 
consider and mitigate any identified impacts to adjacent properties, including those from 
noise, light, glare, vibration, parking, circulation and appropriate stacking distance for 
access lanes. 

 No new carwash facility offering hand and/or mechanical washing shall be 
approved in the C-3 zone at any time following the effective date of this section.  This 
prohibition includes any self-serve or full-service commercial washing, detailing, waxing, 
or cleaning of vehicles.   

 
SECTION 6. Section 9350. Uses Permitted of Part 5 C-4 (General Commercial) Zone 

Regulations of Chapter 3 Zoning of Article IX of the Lakewood Municipal Code is amended by 
adding Subsection 9350.B.13, to read as follows: 

 
B. USES PERMITTED SUBJECT TO CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT. The 

following uses are permitted provided that in each instance a conditional use permit has been 
obtained and continues in full force and effect: 

… 
13. Commercial Carwash.  Any self-service or full-service permanent facility offering 
hand and/or mechanical car washing, which includes detailing, waxing, and/or cleaning of 
vehicles.  Carwash facilities may include outdoor vacuums, vacuum stations, and other 
outdoor equipment and activities normally associated with a carwash.  Other activities and 
uses may co-locate with a carwash as deemed acceptable by the Planning and Environment 
Commission. The review of any proposed design shall consider and mitigate any identified 
impacts to adjacent properties, including those from noise, light, glare, vibration, parking, 
circulation and appropriate stacking distance for access lanes. 



Ordinance No. 2018-6 
Commercial Carwash Ordinance 
Page 3 
 

Any commercial carwash that was approved with a conditional use permit prior to 
and that was valid on the effective date of this Ordinance shall remain as a fully authorized 
land use.  Any proposed modification to such a previously approved carwash shall be 
subject to the provisions listed in Subsection 9347.D.11. 
 

SECTION 7. Section 9490. E.2. of Part 19, Chapter 3 of Article IX of the Lakewood 
Municipal Code regarding Off-street Parking Requirements is added to read as follows: 
… 

E.2 Commercial Carwash.  A commercial carwash shall provide parking spaces as 
follows:  

1. A minimum of three (3) parking spaces shall be provided for a self-serve 
carwash, which is a carwash where the customer stays in the vehicle during a 
mechanical wash. 

2. A minimum of ten (10) spaces shall be provided for a full-serve carwash, which 
is a carwash where the employees either wash, vacuum and/or hand dry the 
vehicle.  This requirement applies to carwash facilities that offer a combination 
of both self-serve and full-serve carwash services.  

3. One (1) space for each employee on the largest shift.   
4. One (1) space for each 250 square feet of gross floor area devoted to office 

and/or retail land uses  
5. Vacuum and detailing stations shall not be counted or used in any manner to 

satisfy these parking requirements.  
 
SECTION 8. CEQA. This Ordinance is exempt from the California Environmental Quality 

Act (CEQA) pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15061(b)(3) which is the general rule that 
CEQA applies only to projects which have the potential for causing a significant effect on the 
environment.  CEQA does not apply where it can be seen with certainty that there is no possibility 
that the activity may have a significant effect on the environment.  This Ordinance has no impact 
on the physical environment as it will only modify administrative procedures and not result in any 
changes to the physical environment. 

 
SECTION 9.  SEVERABILITY.  If any section, subsection, subdivision, sentence, clause, 

phrase or portion of this Ordinance, is for any reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional by the 
decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity of the 
remaining portions of this Ordinance.  The City Council hereby declares that it would have adopted 
this Ordinance and each section, subsection, subdivision, sentence, clause, phrase, or portion 
thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or more sections, subsections, subdivisions, sentences, 
clauses, phrases, or portions thereof be declared invalid or unconstitutional. 
 

SECTION 10.  CONTINUITY. To the extent the provisions of the Lakewood Municipal 
Code as amended by this Ordinance are substantially the same as the provisions of that Code as 
they read immediately prior to the adoption of this Ordinance, then those provisions shall be 
construed as continuations of the earlier provisions and not as new enactments.   
 



Ordinance No. 2018-6 
Commercial Carwash Ordinance 
Page 4 
 

SECTION 11.  CERTIFICATION. The City Clerk shall certify to the adoption of this 
Ordinance and shall post a certified copy of this Ordinance, including the vote for and against 
same, in the Office of the City Clerk, in accordance with Government Code Section 36933.  The 
City Council hereby finds and determines there are no newspapers of general circulation both 
published and circulated within the City and, in compliance with Section 36933 of the Government 
Code, directs the City Clerk to cause the ordinance within 15 days after its passage to be posted in 
at least three (3) public places within the City as established by Ordinance. 
 

SECTION 12. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Ordinance shall be posted or published as 
required by law and shall take effect thirty (30) days after its adoption. 
 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED this ______ day of ____________, 2018, by the following 
roll call vote: 
 
  AYES  NAYS ABSENT 
Council Member Piazza       
Council Member DuBois       
Council Member Rogers       
Council Member Wood       
Mayor Croft       
 
 
 

_____________________________ 
Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 
City Clerk 
 





2.2 

 ORDINANCE NO. 2018-7 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
LAKEWOOD AMENDING ARTICLE VI AND IX OF THE 
LAKEWOOD MUNICIPAL CODE PERTAINING TO 
STANDARDS FOR SHORT-TERM RENTALS OF 
RESIDENTIAL PROPERTIES AND REQUIRING A BUSINESS 
LICENSE AND TRANSIENT OCCUPANCY TAX FOR SUCH 
SHORT-TERM RENTALS. 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD DOES ORDAIN AS 

FOLLOWS: 
 

SECTION 1. PURPOSE.  The purpose of this ordinance is to create regulations that ban 
short-term whole home rentals for less than thirty (30) days and to continue to allow long-
term whole home rentals for thirty (30) days or more.  Furthermore, the ordinance will allow 
both the short-term home-share rentals of individual rooms for less than thirty (30) days within 
existing owner-occupied dwelling units, located within any residential zoning district and to 
continue to allow long-term rental of home-share rooms.  All dwelling units used for home-
share rentals shall be in full compliance with all adopted building codes and all provisions of the 
Lakewood Municipal Code.  Furthermore, it is the purpose of this ordinance to create a system by 
which a business license and Transient Occupancy Tax is required and collected for such short-
term home-share rentals. 

 
SECTION 2. Chapter 9 of Title VI of the Lakewood Municipal Code, regarding Transient 

Occupancy Taxes is amended to read as follows: 
 

CHAPTER 9  
TRANSIENT OCCUPANCY TAXES 

 
6901. TITLE. This Chapter shall be known as the Uniform Occupancy Tax Ordinance of 
the City of Lakewood.  
6902. DEFINITIONS. Except where the context otherwise requires, the definitions given 
in this section govern the construction of this Chapter: 

A. PERSON. "Person" means any individual, firm, partnership, joint venture, 
association, social club, fraternal organization, joint stock company, corporation, 
estate, trust, business trust, receiver, trustee, syndicate, or any other group or 
combination acting as a unit. 
B. HOTEL. "Hotel" means any structure, or any portion of any structure, which 
is occupied or intended or designed for occupancy by transients for dwelling, lodging 
or sleeping purposes, and includes any hotel, inn, tourist home or house, motel, studio 
hotel, bachelor hotel, lodging house, rooming house, apartment house, dormitory, 
public or private club, or other similar structures or portion thereof providing 
lodging.  



Ordinance No. 2018-7 
Short-Term Rental Ordinance 
Page 2 
 

C. OCCUPANCY. "Occupancy" means the use or possession, or the right to the use 
or possession of any room or rooms or portion thereof, in any hotel or home-share 
rental for dwelling, lodging or sleeping purposes. 
D. TRANSIENT. "Transient" means any person who exercises occupancy or is 
entitled to occupancy by reason of concession, permit, right of access, license or other 
agreement for a period of time less than thirty (30) consecutive calendar days, 
counting portions of calendar days as full days. Any such person so occupying space 
in a hotel or home-share rental shall be deemed to be a transient until the period of 
thirty (30) days has expired, unless there is an agreement in writing between the 
operator and the occupant providing for a longer period of occupancy. 
E. RENT. "Rent" means the consideration charged, whether or not received, for the 
occupancy of space in a hotel or home-share rental valued in money, whether to be 
received in money, goods, labor or otherwise, including all receipts, cash, credits and 
property and services of any kind or nature, without any deduction therefrom 
whatsoever. 
F. OPERATOR. "Operator" means the person who is proprietor of the hotel or the 
property owner of an owner-occupied dwelling unit with a home-share rental, 
whether in the capacity of owner, lessee, sublessee, mortgagee in possession, licensee, 
or any other capacity. Where the operator performs his functions through a managing 
agent of any type or character other than an employee, the managing agent shall also 
be deemed an operator for the purpose of this ordinance and shall have the same 
duties and liabilities as his principal. Compliance with the provisions of this Chapter 
by either the principal or the managing agent shall, however, be considered to be 
compliance by both. 
G. TAX ADMINISTRATOR. "Tax Administrator" means the Director of Finance. 
H. WHOLE HOME RENTAL.  “Whole Home Rental” means the rental, host, 
lease, or use of an entire residential dwelling unit.  
I. HOME-SHARE RENTAL.  “Home-Share Rental” means the rental of one or more 
rooms within an owner-occupied residential dwelling unit.  The residential dwelling unit 
owner rents, leases, or hosts any individual or individuals in their privately-owned 
dwelling unit, for compensation,  
 

6903. TAX IMPOSED. For the privilege of occupancy in any hotel or home-share rental 
(short-term), each transient is subject to and shall pay a tax in the amount of a percentage of 
the rent charged by the operation at the rate of eight percent (8%).  The tax constitutes a debt 
owed by the transient to the City of Lakewood on retail sales. The tax constitutes a debt owed 
by the transient to the City which is extinguished only by payment to the operator or to the 
City. The transient shall pay the tax to the operator of the hotel or home-share rental (short-
term) at the time the rent is paid. If the rent is paid in installments, a proportionate share of 
the tax shall be paid with each installment. The unpaid tax shall be due upon the transient's 
ceasing to occupy space in the hotel or home-share rental (short-term).  If for any reason the 
tax due is not paid to the operator of the hotel, the Tax Administrator may require that such 
tax shall be paid directly to the Tax Administrator.  
 
6904. EXEMPTIONS. No tax shall be imposed upon: 



Ordinance No. 2018-7 
Short-Term Rental Ordinance 
Page 3 
 

A. Any person as to whom, or any occupancy as to which, it is beyond the power of 
the City to impose the tax herein provided. 
B. Any officer or employee of a foreign government, who is exempt by reason of 
express provision of federal law or international treaty. 
C. No exemption shall be granted except upon a claim therefor made at the time 
rent is collected and under penalty of perjury upon a form prescribed by the Tax 
Administrator. 
 

6905. OPERATOR'S DUTIES.  Each operator shall collect the tax imposed by this 
Chapter to the same extent and at the same time as the rent is collected from every transient. 
The amount of tax shall be separately stated from the amount of the rent charged, and each 
transient shall receive a receipt for payment from the operator. No operator of a hotel or 
home-share rental (short-term) shall advertise or state in any manner, whether directly or 
indirectly, that the tax or any part thereof will be assumed or absorbed by the operator, or 
that it will not be added to the rent, or that, if added, any part will be refunded except in the 
manner hereinafter provided. 
 
6906. REGISTRATION. Within thirty (30) days after the effective date of the ordinance 
adopting this Chapter, or within thirty (30) days after commencing business, whichever is 
later, each operator of any hotel or home-share rental (short-term) renting occupancy to 
transients shall register the hotel or home-share rental (short-term) with the Tax 
Administrator and obtain from them a "Transient Occupancy Registration Certificate" to be at 
all times posted in a conspicuous place on the premises. The certificate shall, among other 
things, state the following: 

A. The name of the operator; 
B. The address of the hotel or home-share rental (short-term); 
C. The date upon which the certificate was issued. 
D. "This Transient Occupancy Registration Certificate signifies that the person 
named on the face hereof has fulfilled the requirements of the Uniform Transient 
Occupancy Tax Ordinance by registering with the Tax Administrator for the 
purpose of collecting from transients the Transient Occupancy Tax and remitting the 
tax to the Tax Administrator. This certificate does not authorize any person to conduct 
any unlawful business or to conduct any lawful business in an unlawful manner, nor to 
operate a hotel or home-share rental (short-term) without strictly complying with all 
local applicable laws, including the zoning laws and including, but not limited to, 
those requiring a permit from any board, commission, department or office of this 
City. This certificate does not constitute a permit." 

… 
 

6915. GUEST REGISTRATION. 
A. Every operator, manager or person in control of any hotel or home-share rental 
(short-term) in the City shall keep a register for the registration of transient guests. 
The guest register shall at all times be open and subject to reasonable inspection by 
City officials or by any law enforcement officer in the City. 

 



Ordinance No. 2018-7 
Short-Term Rental Ordinance 
Page 4 
 

B. GUESTS MUST REGISTER.  No operator, manager or person in control of any 
hotel or home-share rental (short-term), in the City shall let or assign for temporary 
or transient occupancy any suite, room or bed in that hotel or home-share rental 
(short-term), to any person until after such person has registered their name and 
address in the register herein provided to be kept, and thereafter such register shall be 
made to show correctly the year, month, day and hour of the arrival of such person 
at the hotel or home-share rental (short-term) and the number of the suite or room let 
or assigned to such guest; and such person in control of such hotel or home-share 
rental (short-term) or the letting of any suite, room or bed therein shall at the time of 
the departure of each guest, endorse upon such register the date of such departure, 
nor shall any person erase or alter any name or address written in such register. 

 
1. REGISTRATION INFORMATION REQUIRED. The operator of any hotel 
or home-share rental (short-term) shall keep a register, on forms approved by or 
supplied by the City, of the names and home or business addresses of all persons to 
be accommodated with the length of stay indicated. At the time of registration, 
the operator or their employee shall verify the identification of the registrant by 
requesting to see, and copying onto the registration form any of the following from 
the registrant and issued in the registrants name: a valid driver's license number, a 
valid state-issued identification number, a valid military identification, a valid 
passport number and country of issuance, a valid credit card number, and/or a 
credit card verification of a credit card issued in the registrant's name. The 
operator or their employee must also include on the registration forms, where 
applicable, the make, type and license number of the registrant's automobile, trailer 
or other vehicle, and the state in which such vehicle is registered and the year of 
registration, for any vehicle that is parked on the premises. Hotels or home 
shares that can demonstrate that they take sufficient reasonable steps to control 
access to and from parking areas on the premises shall not be required to include 
this information on registration forms. Such sufficient reasonable steps to 
control access to and from parking areas shall include, but not be limited to, 
valet parking, automated access gates, and parking attendants. 
 
2. PRE-ARRIVAL REGISTRATION. In the event that the hotel or home-share 
rental (short-term) utilizes a pre-arrival registration or approval procedure that 
obviates the requirement for an arriving guest to go to the front desk and 
provide information typically required as part of the hotel's customary registration 
process, the hotel or home-share rental (short-term) shall not be required to comply 
with subsection C of this section; provided, however, that the hotel's or home-share 
rental (short-term) pre-arrival registration or approval procedure must be 
submitted to and approved by the City Manager or their designee, and the facility 
must obtain such guest- related information of the type specified in subsection C 
as the City Manager or their designee might reasonably require. 
 
3. ILLEGAL REGISTRATION. No person shall register at any hotel or home-
share rental (short-term) in the City, under the name of any other person, or by any 



Ordinance No. 2018-7 
Short-Term Rental Ordinance 
Page 5 
 

assumed, false or fictitious name. No person placing any information required by 
this section shall falsely or inaccurately state such information. 

 
SECTION 3. Subsection 6527.2.E of Title VI of the Lakewood Municipal Code, 

regarding tax rates for rentals is amended to read as follows: 
 
E. RENTALS.  Any person conducting, managing or carrying on the business consisting 
mainly of leasing or renting of: 1) one or more rooms within a home-share rental (short-
term); 2) apartment units, 3) business rentals: or 4) rooms or suites in any apartment house, 
multiple dwelling, office building, guest or boarding home, hotel or motel will be classified 
in this category and shall pay the following business tax:  

1.  Hotels, Motels and Home-Share Rentals (short-term only) 
Up to 8 rooms or units      $40.00 (a) 
Each additional room or unit      $ 3.50 (a) 

2.  Boarding House, Rooming Houses, Multiple Dwellings,  
and Business Rentals  
Up to 4 rooms or units      $ 33.00 (a) 
Each additional room or unit         $   3.50 (a) 

3.  Trailer Parks, Mobile Homes, Mobile Home Parks  
Up to 10 spaces       $   67.00 (a) 
Each additional space      $     5.00 (a) 
Maximum Tax       $ 670.00 (a) 

  (Note: (a) means annually each fiscal year.)  
 

SECTION 4. Subsection 9320.F of Title IX of the Lakewood Municipal Code, regarding 
uses allowed in the Single-Family Residential Zone District is amended to read as follows: 

… 
F. RENTALS. 

1. LONG-TERM RENTAL (30 days or more).  
(a) Whole Home Rental.  An entire dwelling unit may only be rented for periods 

of time that are thirty (30) days or more. 
(b) Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) Rental. An Accessory Dwelling Unit may 

only be rented for periods of time that are thirty (30) days or more and either 
the primary dwelling unit or the ADU shall be occupied by the property owner. 

(c)  Home-Share Rental (long-term). The renting of not more than two rooms to 
not more than two roomers, or the providing of table board to not more than 
two boarders or both, in a single-family residence may only be rented for 
periods of time that are thirty (30) days or more. 

2. SHORT-TERM RENTAL (less than 30 days).   
(a) Home-Share Rental (short-term). These rentals are allowed for periods of time 

less than thirty (30) consecutive calendar days and for no more than a 
collective maximum total of ninety (90) rental days and/or nights in any 
calendar year, subject to the following: 
1) The dwelling unit shall be owner occupied. 



Ordinance No. 2018-7 
Short-Term Rental Ordinance 
Page 6 
 

2) The dwelling unit shall fully comply with all building codes and all 
provisions of the Lakewood Municipal Code. 

3) Parking for all guest vehicles shall be provide on-site.  There shall be no 
guest vehicles parked on the public right-of-way. In the case of multiple 
room rentals to separate parties, one parking space per rented room shall 
be provided. 

 
SECTION 5. Subsection 9326. E. of Title IX of the Lakewood Municipal Code, regarding 

uses allowed in the RA (Single-Family Residential – Limited Agricultural) zone is amended to 
read as follows: 

 
E. Rentals.  As specified in Subsection 9320.F of this Title. 

 
SECTION 6. Subsection 9328.1.L. of Title IX of the Lakewood Municipal Code, 

regarding uses allowed in the MHP (Mobilehome Park) zone is added to read as follows: 
 

L. Rentals.  As specified in Subsection 9320.F of this Title. 
 

SECTION 7. Subsection 9331.H. of Title IX of the Lakewood Municipal Code, regarding 
uses allowed in the M-F-R (Multiple-Family Residential) zone is added to read as follows: 

 
H. Rentals. As specified in Subsection 9320.F of this Title. 

 
SECTION 8. CEQA. This ordinance is exempt from the California Environmental Quality 

Act (CEQA) pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15061(b)(3) which is the general rule that 
CEQA applies only to projects which have the potential for causing a significant effect on the 
environment and CEQA does not apply where it can be seen with certainty that there is no 
possibility that the activity may have a significant effect on the environment.  This ordinance has 
no impact on the physical environment as it will only modify administrative procedures and not 
result in any changes to the physical environment. 

 
SECTION 9.  SEVERABILITY.  If any section, subsection, subdivision, paragraph, 

sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance or its application to any person or 
circumstance, is for any reason held to be invalid, unenforceable or unconstitutional by the 
decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity of the 
remaining portions of this ordinance or its application to any other person or circumstance. The 
City Council hereby declares that it would have adopted this ordinance and each section, 
subsection, subdivision, sentence, clause, phrase, or portion thereof, irrespective of the fact that 
any one or more sections, subsections, subdivisions, paragraph, sentences, clauses, phrases, or 
portions thereof be declared invalid, unenforceable or unconstitutional. 
 

SECTION 10.  CONTINUITY. To the extent the provisions of the Lakewood Municipal 
Code as amended by this ordinance are substantially the same as the provisions of that Code as 
they read immediately prior to the adoption of this ordinance, then those provisions shall be 
construed as continuations of the earlier provisions and not as new enactments.   



Ordinance No. 2018-7 
Short-Term Rental Ordinance 
Page 7 
 
 

SECTION 11.  CERTIFICATION. The City Clerk shall certify to the adoption of this 
ordinance and shall post a certified copy of this ordinance, including the vote for and against same, 
in the Office of the City Clerk, in accordance with Government Code Section 36933.  The City 
Council hereby finds and determines there are no newspapers of general circulation both published 
and circulated within the City and, in compliance with Section 36933 of the Government Code, 
directs the City Clerk to cause the ordinance within 15 days after its passage to be posted in at least 
three (3) public places within the City as established by ordinance. 

 
SECTION 12.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Ordinance shall be posted or published as 

required by law and shall take effect thirty (30) days after its adoption. 
 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED this ______ day of ____________, 2018, by the following 
roll call vote: 
 
  AYES  NAYS ABSENT 
Council Member Piazza       
Council Member DuBois       
Council Member Rogers       
Council Member Wood       
Mayor Croft       
 
 
 

_____________________________ 
Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 





2.3 

 ORDINANCE NO. 2018-8 
 
 
  AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

LAKEWOOD AMENDING THE MUNICIPAL CODE 
PERTAINING TO COMPENSATION OF MEMBERS OF THE 
CITY COUNCIL 

 
 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD DOES HEREBY ORDAIN AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
 SECTION 1. Section 2300.1 of Chapter 3 of Article II of the Lakewood Municipal Code 
pertaining to the compensation of members of the City Council is hereby amended to read as 
follows: 
 
 "2300.1.  Same.  Compensation for Services.  City Council Members shall be 

compensated for their services to the City in the sum of $1,649.00 per month 
each, which shall be a charge against the City and payable as other salaries on the 
first day of the month following the effective date of the ordinance adopting this 
section, and thereafter payable on the first day of each and every month during 
said term of office." 

 
 SECTION 2. In adopting this Ordinance, the City Council makes the following findings: 
 
 1. The operative date of the last adjustment of the compensation of members of the 

City Council was March, 2005, and no adjustment has been made since that date. 
 
 2. Pursuant to Section 36516(c) of the Government Code of the State of California, 

compensation may be increased by an amount not to exceed five percent (5%) for each 
calendar year from said operative date which results in compensation in the sum of 
$1,649 for the calendar year 2020. 

 
 SECTION 3. Pursuant to Section 365l6.5 of the Government Code of the State of 
California, the change in compensation herein specified from $1,513 per month to $1,649 per 
month shall not be operative, and said compensation of $1,649 per month for each Council 
Member shall not commence unless and until one or more members of the City Council become 
eligible for this salary increase by virtue of beginning a new term of office following the adoption 
of this Ordinance.  Until this Ordinance becomes operative, the existing compensation set by 
Section 2300.1 of the Lakewood Municipal Code by Ordinance No. 2005-7 shall remain at 
$1,513 per month.  On the first day of the month following the operative date of this Ordinance, 
the compensation of each member of the City Council shall be $1,649 and shall be paid on the 
first day of each and every month thereafter during said term of office, until said Ordinance is 
otherwise amended. 



Ordinance No. 2018-8 
Page 2 
 
 
 

 SECTION 4. The City Clerk shall certify to the adoption of this Ordinance.  The City 
Council hereby finds and determines there are no newspapers of general circulation both 
published and circulated within the City and, in compliance with Section 36933 of the 
Government Code, directs the City Clerk to cause said ordinance within fifteen (15) days after its 
passage to be posted in at least three (3) public places within the City.  This ordinance shall take 
effect thirty (30) days after its adoption. 
 
 ADOPTED AND APPROVED this 9th day of October, 2018, by the following roll call 
vote: 
 
  Ayes  Nays Absent 
 
Council Member Piazza ______ ______ ______ 
Council Member Dubois ______ ______ ______ 
Council Member Wood ______ ______ ______ 
Vice Mayor Rogers ______ ______ ______ 
Mayor Croft ______ ______ ______ 
 
 
 
       ______________________________ 
       Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
 I, JO MAYBERRY, do hereby certify that I am the duly appointed and acting City Clerk 
of the City of Lakewood, and the foregoing ordinance was adopted and approved by the City 
Council of the City of Lakewood voting for and against the ordinance as above set forth at a 
regular meeting thereof on the 9th day of October, 2018. 
 
 
 
       ___________________________________ 
       City Clerk 
 
 
CODING: Words in struck through type are deletions from existing law; words in underscore 
type are additions. 





 



3.1 

COUNCIL AGENDA 
October 9, 2018 

 
 
 
TO:  The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT: TGIS Catered Events at Monte Verde Park 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 
Since the renovation of Monte Verde Park in 2001, the park has served as a premiere event space 
for the City of Lakewood and Lakewood residents.  The facility’s welcoming Craftsman-style 
cabin and the lush turf and landscape, with native flora, attract a variety of events, including 
weddings, anniversary parties, bridal and baby showers, as well as executive presentations and 
meetings.   
 
Thank Goodness It’s Sofia (TGIS) has been the exclusive caterer at The Centre since July 2011 
and has provided outstanding service to clients at The Centre, while maintaining a positive 
relationship with the city.   
 
STATEMENT OF FACTS 
At the Park Development Committee meeting, held July 20, 2018, staff provided a report regarding 
provision of Monte Verde Park for limited and advanced reservations for catered events by TGIS. 
Having heard the presentation from staff, the Park Development Committee directed staff to enter 
into discussions with TGIS, on a mutually beneficial contract agreement, for limited and advanced 
reservation use of Monte Verde Park for privately catered events.    
 
Over the last three years, TGIS has been in discussion with staff about extending their use of The 
Centre to create an outdoor event space to offer clients. Staff researched several ideas, which were 
presented at a January 2018 Park Development Committee meeting.  While some ideas had 
significant upsides, costs were prohibitive, even in collaboration, for both the city and TGIS.   
 
As stated in the introduction, Monte Verde Park is an event space at which many meaningful events 
are held, due to the facility’s ambiance, beauty, and exclusivity. Unlike all other Lakewood parks, 
the entire facility is made available only to invited guests when reserved. 
 
Monte Verde is a moderately sized facility. Due to the size of the cabin and patio areas, parties are 
limited to a maximum of 120 guests.  In regards to bookings at the facility, the location of the 
park—tucked away in a residential tract—makes the parking lot and overflow influences a factor 
staff fully realizes.  Currently, there are 72 parking stalls within the lot.  This allotment is 
substantial enough, even for an event with 120 attendees, which usually sees a sampling of 
families, and other carpools, to eliminate additional parking impacts to the residents in the vicinity.   
 



TGIS Catered Events at Monte Verde Park  
October 9, 2018 
Page 2 
 
 
Per discussions regarding use of Monte Verde Park by TGIS, the city would grant TGIS permission 
to serve alcoholic beverages under their existing Alcoholic Beverage Control (ABC) license.  
TGIS would adhere to ABC licensing regulations, including training and monitoring of bartenders 
and other service staff.  TGIS will work diligently, as they have proven at The Centre, to maintain 
their compliance as related to their licensing.  The fenced-in perimeter of Monte Verde further 
contributes to their ability to maintain operational control serving alcohol.  
 
Although Lakewood Municipal Code, Section 4500 prohibits alcohol consumption on city parks, 
LMC. 4506 provides an exception to allow alcohol sales and consumption by authorization of the 
Director of Recreation and Community Services (RCS). 
 
A preliminary plan has been discussed and agreed to, in principle, amongst city staff and TGIS 
which would allow TGIS limited advanced reservation rights for Monte Verde Park according to 
the following model.  TGIS would: 
 

1. For a period up to 18 months in advance, be deemed exclusive reservation rights for Monte 
Verde Park on the first and third Saturday, the second and fourth Sunday, and all Fridays 
of each month, with the exception of City or City-sponsored event.  

 
2. Have exclusive catering rights for events reserved through their catering office. 

 
3. Be allowed to serve alcohol at TGIS catered events. 

 
4. Cease to have exclusive reservation rights for Monte Verde Park for events beginning 

seven (7) months in advance of an event. 
 

5. Pay to the City of Lakewood twenty percent (20%)  of gross sales of alcoholic beverages, 
gross sales of food and non-alcoholic beverages, and gross fees for any room use fee, set 
up fee and all other products or services.   

 
The proposed reservation calendar retains ample opportunity for residents to reserve the facility 
within normal operating conditions (i.e. six months in advance of the desired permit date).  
Additionally, if TGIS has not confirmed a reservation within the advance reservation timeframe, 
the RCS Department will offer these dates to residents according to availability. 
 
Lastly, the City of Lakewood will realize financial benefit from the agreement.  Currently, 
Lakewood residents are charged a flat rate of $35 per hour for use of the facility, with no other 
opportunities for revenue.  Under the proposed model, it is anticipated that with the percentage of 
food, alcohol, and other services - paid at 20% to the city - catered events by TGIS will outperform 
the current rental model.   
 
 
 



TGIS Catered Events at Monte Verde Park  
October 9, 2018 
Page 3 
 
 
SUMMARY 
Entry into an agreement with TGIS will provide catering and concession services to residents and 
create an outdoor event venue for the city’s long-standing and reputable concessionaire at no 
additional expense to the city. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Upon approval of the City Attorney as to form, it is staff’s recommendation that the City Council 
authorize the Mayor to sign an Agreement with TGIS for Catering and Concession Services at 
Monte Verde Park. 
 
 
Valarie Frost, Director     Thaddeus McCormack 
Recreation and Community Services    City Manager 
 



 

1 
 

AGREEMENT 
CITY OF LAKEWOOD 

CATERED EVENTS AT MONTE VERDE PARK WITH 
TGIS CATERING SERVICES, INC. 

 
THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into this 9th day of October, 2018 by and 

between the CITY OF LAKEWOOD, a municipal corporation, (the “City”) and THANK 
GOODNESS IT’S SOFIA (TGIS) CATERING SERVICES, INC. (Concessionaire”). 

 
WITNESSETH: 

 
WHEREAS, the City, is in need of a concessionaire to provide food and beverage 

services at Monte Verde Park: 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties heretofore and in consideration of the mutual covenants 
and promises herein contained, do mutually agree, one with the other as follows: 

1. Term.  The term of this Agreement shall be two (2) years, commencing at 
12:01 A.M. on the 9th day of October, 2018 and expiring on the 8th day of October, 2020.   

2. Concession. Except as otherwise provided herein, the City grants to 
Concessionaire the following: 

A.  The exclusive right and privilege to provide catering and concession 
services in the Lakewood community facility known as Monte Verde Park, on those days of the 
calendar year as described in section 8, and in those areas thereof designated as Concession Area 
on Exhibit "A," attached hereto and made a part hereof as though set forth in full. 

B.  "Concession Services" as used in this Agreement are limited to private 
functions for profit consisting of weddings, wedding receptions and other private uses for profit 
as approved by the City in writing.  "Private" as used herein means those uses by individual 
persons, businesses or organizations where the general public is excluded from attendance except 
where otherwise authorized by the City in writing.  "Profit" as used herein means those 
concession services that are booked, provided or serviced by the Concessionaire for a profit as 
provided for and subject to the terms and provisions of this Agreement. 

C.  "Catering Services" as used in this Agreement is defined and limited to 
the booking, providing, delivery, and servicing at Monte Verde Park of food, beverages, beer, 
wine and liquor subject to ABC approval along with furnishings and equipment, owned by the 
Concessionaire, where the foregoing are booked or prepared, and delivered from, or stored, or 
maintained, or originate from the TGIS business office, located at The Centre, 5000 Clark 
Avenue, Lakewood. 

3. Monte Verde Park. Concessionaire acknowledges that Monte Verde 
Park is a public facility owned, maintained and operated by the City, for public use and purposes 



 

2 
 

and that the facility was designed primarily as a multi-use governmental and recreational facility.  
Concessionaire further acknowledges that the City, in the design and development of Monte 
Verde Park, intended to establish thereon and intends to maintain thereon a facility open to 
public use for meetings, conferences, banquets, entertainment, music and cultural purposes, as 
well as educational and recreational uses and City business.  Notwithstanding any exclusive 
catering and concession rights and privileges given to Concessionaire at Monte Verde Park, 
pursuant to the terms and provisions of this agreement, said rights and privileges are subordinate 
to the public use of Monte Verde Park. City agrees that Concessionaire has the exclusive right to 
the use of the facility and that it will not enter into any contract, agreement, engagement, permit, 
license or authorization with anyone else to use the facility for catering or concession services as 
heretofore defined. 

4. Scope of Services Provided By Concessionaire.   

A.    It is the City's clear and specific intent that the Concessionaire 
provide the full range of services contemplated in the Agreement.  Concentration by the 
Concessionaire in one area of service, to the detriment or exclusion of another, will not be 
acceptable.  In summary, the Concessionaire must be prepared to provide excellent products and 
services in keeping with the City's reputation and high level of service to the public.  This 
concession has been granted to Concessionaire based upon Concessionaire's general reputation in 
the community for excellent service.  All persons serving Concessionaire in connection with this 
Agreement shall be under the control and jurisdiction of the Concessionaire unless authorized 
otherwise by the City in writing. 

B.  Concessionaire shall supply and have ready for sale all products in 
sufficient quantity and shall maintain adequate personnel and equipment for the efficient service 
of its customers at all times, and shall operate at such hours of day and night as required. 

C. Concessionaire shall employ its best judgment, efforts, and abilities in 
a manner calculated to produce the maximum practical volume of sales and transactions 
obtainable.  The City acknowledges and fully understands the business and profit motive which 
is the basis for the Concessionaire's operation.  The City must nonetheless ensure that the levels 
of service, and the charges associated therewith, are adequate and reasonable and meet the 
requirements of the patrons, events and activities of the premises.  The City reserves the general 
right to reasonably determine the levels of service to be provided. 

D.  Concessionaire shall work with the City to maintain a strong 
marketing program to promote and advertise Monte Verde Park and the catering services therein, 
in an effort to increase customers and sales.  At least once every six (6) months, the City and 
Concessionaire shall meet to review the marketing program to discuss changes and 
improvements to the program, if needed.  The City shall have the right to approve actual 
marketing items, costs and content prior to distribution. 



 

3 
 

E.  Concessionaire shall provide all personnel, material and equipment 
necessary to carry out the terms and provisions of the contract that are not provided by City. 

5. Scope of Services Provided by City. 

A.  During the term of this Agreement, the City shall provide and 
maintain, for the use of the Concessionaire as well as its own use, all of the tables, carts, stacking 
chairs, dollies and hand trucks, as well as other equipment necessary to maintain, stack, store and 
make available the banquet stacking chairs now on the premises.  During the term of this 
agreement, the City shall also provide for the following at Monte Verde Park: natural gas, water, 
electricity, refuse removal, custodial and building maintenance and pest control.   

6. Quality of Products and Services.  In the course of discharging its 
responsibilities under the terms of this Agreement, Concessionaire shall, at all times, ensure 
maintenance of the highest standards of quality in both the products offered for sale and in the 
services provided. 

A.  Concessionaire shall offer for sale only foods, non-alcoholic and 
alcoholic beverages of such quality as judged reasonably acceptable by City.  All products shall 
be appealing in appearance.  City shall have the right, at all times when employees or 
representatives of Concessionaire are present, and whether the concession premises are in 
operation or not, to inspect products to be sold by Concessionaire, and approve or reject them if 
they do not meet the requirements of the contract.  In the event the City should reject any 
product, it shall be immediately removed from the premises. 

B.   Concessionaire shall furnish prompt, courteous, efficient, 
inoffensive, and quality service to meet the reasonable demands of the City, and the public and 
patrons.  Concessionaire shall furnish all authorized and/or required services on a fair, equal and 
nondiscriminatory basis to all patrons.  Concessionaire shall not discriminate against anyone 
because of race, religion, color, sex, age, and national origin or by reason of physical handicap. 

C.   Concessionaire shall control and be held responsible for the conduct, 
demeanor and appearance of its officers, agents, employees, and representatives, guests, 
contractors and others while doing business in, about or adjacent to the premises.  Upon 
reasonable objection from City concerning the conduct, demeanor or appearance of these 
persons, Concessionaire shall immediately take all actions necessary to remove the cause of the 
objection. 

D.  Concessionaire shall conduct its business on the premises in an 
orderly, cooperative, and proper manner so as not to annoy, disturb, disrupt, offend, or otherwise 
interfere with the ongoing operation of the premises and/or its personnel and patrons. 



 

4 
 

7. Pricing of Products and Services.  Monte Verde Park will serve an 
extremely divergent range of patrons in a highly competitive market.  The imposition of a non-
competitive price structure for products and services would be detrimental to the City, to its 
reputation, to the potential for future bookings, and ultimately, to the Concessionaire.  Therefore, 
the pricing of the products and services provided by the Concessionaire is of considerable 
importance to the City. 

A.  Because of the importance of competitive pricing, Concessionaire 
agrees to price all food, beverages, goods and services at a rate comparable to the prices of said 
products and services at other competing banquet and meeting facilities in Los Angeles and 
Orange Counties.  Concessionaire shall provide for the consideration and selection of patrons, a 
wide range of standard menu items and pricing.  All such menus and price lists shall be 
submitted to the City in writing, for City's approval, which shall not be withheld unreasonably.  
City shall have ten days to object to any prices proposed by Concessionaire, or said prices shall 
be deemed approved.  In addition, said menus and price lists shall be printed by the 
Concessionaire at Concessionaire's own expense and made available to prospective patrons of 
the Monte Verde Park facility.  City intends that the aforementioned standard menu items be 
considered as the minimum food and beverage items offered by the Concessionaire.  It is not 
intended to be an all-inclusive listing.  The Concessionaire is expected to explore the feasibility 
and appropriateness of offering additional items, during the term of the Agreement and to plan, 
promote and conduct special events and activities featuring entertainment, decorations, and food 
and beverage service. 

B. Concessionaire shall provide a discount of ten (10) percent from its 
regular menu prices for food purchases by bona fide Lakewood nonprofit community groups.  
The Concessionaire will refer to the current listing of bona fide Lakewood community groups 
which will be provided and maintained by the City.  

8. Booking Policies and Use Priorities. 

A.  When not in use for City sponsored events, Monte Verde Park 
facilities, as hereinafter described, are available to the Concessionaire for food and beverage 
bookings.  Concessionaire may not book any event more than eighteen (18) months in advance 
without prior written approval of the City.  Concessionaire will be granted advanced reservation 
of the facility for the first and third Saturday and the second and fourth Sunday of each month 
and all Fridays, except for City or City-sponsored events scheduled for the benefit of the public.  
If, at seven (7) months prior to a date, the facility has not been booked, Concessionaire will 
relinquish date back to the City for general reservations.  Dates relinquished to the City may be 
booked, upon request by Concessionaire, at the City’s discretion.   

B.   All scheduled catered uses, of any Concession Area shall be entered 
in records maintained by Concessionaire and retained in the possession of the Concessionaire 



 

5 
 

during the term of this Agreement.  Said records shall be available for City inspection at any time 
during Concessionaire's regular office hours. 

10. Management. 

A. The City Manager or his authorized representative shall represent the 
City in the administration of any City functions required hereunder and in the supervision of the 
performance of this Agreement by the Concessionaire.  The term "City Manager," as used in this 
Agreement, shall include and mean his authorized representative.  The City Council hereby 
authorizes the City Manager, and the Concessionaire does hereby acknowledge and agree to 
comply therewith, the power and authority to prepare in writing and to deliver in writing the 
Concessionaire Rules and Regulations pertaining to the use of Monte Verde Park not 
inconsistent with the terms and provisions of this Agreement.  Any rule and regulation adopted 
by the City Manager may be amended or revoked by the City Council at any time and the City 
Council may, from time to time, adopt additional rules and regulations pertaining to the use and 
operation of the concession.  No rule or regulation shall be enforceable which is inconsistent or 
contrary to the provisions of this Agreement, and no regulation shall be adopted or be 
enforceable unless the same relates to the use and operation of the concession and covers a 
matter not specifically covered under the Agreement.  All such rules and regulations shall be 
reasonably necessary in order to protect the public health, safety and welfare.  All such rules and 
regulations shall be in writing and delivered to the Concessionaire at least ten (10) days in 
advance of the effective date of said rule or regulation.  The Concessionaire shall be bound by 
such rule and regulation, unless the Concessionaire within said ten (10) days appeals the matter 
to the City Council for consideration. The decision of the City Council shall be in conformity 
with the terms and provisions of this Section and shall be final. 

B.   Concessionaire shall maintain an office in The Centre, at the place 
provided by the City, which shall be open to the public and staffed by at least one employee with 
the general intention that the office be opened and staffed during the general operating hours of 
The Centre.  The specific schedule will be modified from time to time in cooperation with City 
staff.  In addition, a Concessionaire management staff designee shall be in the concession site 
during all times a catering or concession activity is in operation.  Sofia Riley, President shall be 
responsible for all functions assigned to the management staff herein.  The management staff 
shall be fully acquainted with Concessionaire's operations and contract obligations and shall be 
authorized by the Concessionaire to act on its behalf and to fulfill all contractual and other 
obligations in the day-by-day operation of the concession. 

11. Cash Deposit.  Concessionaire shall maintain a deposit with the 
Administrative Services Department in the sum of Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) 
as security for payments owed City pursuant to Section 14 of this Agreement and for the refund 
of any advance payment received by the Concessionaire from any customer or person for 



 

6 
 

catering or concession services.  Said deposit shall be made on the effective date of this 
agreement.  Said deposit shall be maintained and subject to the following: 

A. The City agrees to deposit said funds in the City's Trust Fund as 
Concessionaire Customer Deposit Account.  The City agrees to credit to this account the City's 
yield on its investment portfolio each calendar year quarter or such shorter period as the parties 
may agree and to pay to Concessionaire within thirty (30) days after the end of each quarter or 
such shorter period the interest earned on said account.  If the Concession Agreement should 
terminate prior to the end of any quarter, the interest shall be prorated to the date of termination. 

B.  Upon notice of the failure of Concessionaire to provide to any such 
customer or person any such food, facility or service as required by agreement between 
Concessionaire and said customer or person who has made a deposit for said service, the City 
shall advise Concessionaire in writing that it will, within five (5) days of delivery of said written 
notice to the Concessionaire, withdraw from said fund and pay to said customer or person the 
amount of money set forth in said notice not exceeding the total of said advance payment or 
deposit.  Said notice in addition shall set forth the name and address of the customer or person 
entitled to said refund, the date that the payment will be made, and the reason for the refund.  In 
refunding any money pursuant to this Section, the City shall exercise reasonable discretion.  City 
agrees that it does not have the right to act on behalf of the Concessionaire to resolve disputes.  If 
the Concessionaire has a dispute with a client, Concessionaire will be allowed to resolve said 
disputes utilizing proper legal remedies as provided for in its contract with said customers. 

C.   Concessionaire shall monthly report to the Director of Recreation 
and Community Services all advance deposits and payments received by it from any customer 
for which concession or catering services are due and owing.  Said list shall contain the name 
and address of the customer or person to whom refund is to be made, a brief description of the 
services or facilities to be provided and the date the same are to be performed. 

D.   The City at its own expense shall have the right to audit its books 
and records upon twenty-four (24) hours notice during regular office hours to determine the 
status and amount of all advance payments or deposits received by the Concessionaire from any 
person or customer. 

E.  Concessionaire agrees to maintain said cash deposit with a balance 
of not less nor more than Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) and to replenish said fund 
to so maintain said balance within fifteen (15) days of written notice from the City. 

F.   Within thirty (30) days after the termination of the Concession 
Agreement, Concessionaire shall receive from the City in a Cashier's Check the balance of said 
Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) plus interest to the date of termination remaining 
after deduction therefrom any payment made by the City to any customer or person in 
accordance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement, and after deduction therefrom any 



 

7 
 

amount expended by City to place the Concessionaire Area into the same condition as existed as 
of the commencement of the term of this Concessionaire's occupancy of the Concessionaire 
Area.  On termination, the Concessionaire will provide satisfactory evidence to the City that all 
obligations of the Concessionaire to any person or customer from whom Concessionaire has 
received an advance payment or deposit have been performed or the amount of said payment or 
deposit has been refunded.  In lieu of the foregoing, the Concessionaire may authorize the City to 
pay from said fund any amount Concessionaire owes to any customer or person for food 
facilities or services that have not been performed. 

G. Said advance deposits with City shall not be used to compensate 
customers for the forfeiture of any deposits as a consequence of any expressed sales contract 
provision. 

12. Consideration.  The Concessionaire agrees, in consideration of the 
exclusive privilege herein granted, to pay to the City for services and products provided, 
purveyed or prepared at or from the premises, consideration, exclusive of sales tax, service 
charges, gratuities and other use taxes as may be imposed, at a flat rate of twenty percent (20 %) for 
A, B, & C below.   

A.   Gross sales of alcoholic beverages. 

B. Gross sales of food and non-alcoholic beverages. 

C. Gross fees for any room use fee, set up fee and all other products or 
services not covered in Section 12, A, B & C. 

D.  The Concessionaire agrees to collect the Audiovisual Equipment and 
Services fees and the Audiovisual Processing Fee. 

E.  The  Concessionaire  agrees  to  pay  to  the  City, one  hundred percent 
(100 %) of Audiovisual Equipment and Services.  The Audiovisual Processing Fee will be 
credited back to the Concessionaire in an amount which may change from time to time, subject 
to the agreement of both parties. 

13. Room Set -Up. 

A.  In connection with all events booked by the Concessionaire pursuant 
to the terms of this Agreement, Concessionaire is responsible to provide all necessary labor for 
arranging furnishings and "setting up" or "cleaning up" rooms in the Concessionaire Area where 
there is contracted food, beverage or other services.  City reserves the right at any time to 
provide with its own forces, furniture arrangement or "room set-up" in connection with any City 
or City- sponsored use of the premises or in connection with any City-approved community, 
charitable or non-profit use of the premises.  City acknowledges that Concessionaire's staff will 



 

8 
 

not be available on a complimentary basis to set up events that have no food or beverage 
associated with them. 

14. Calculation and Remittance of Concession Fees. 

A.  The determination of gross sales shall be based on the particular item 
sold and/or service provided or, in certain cases, the method in which such items or services are 
sold.  The City shall have final approval as to the appropriate gross sales category to be utilized 
in computing the consideration to be paid to it.  On request, the City agrees to determine, in 
advance in writing, the appropriate gross sales category for the Concessionaire's computation of 
the consideration required to be paid to the City. 

B.  Concessionaire agrees to pay to City the aforementioned consideration 
upon sale or delivery and whether products were sold or services or premises provided on cash, 
credit or other basis. 

C.  In determining the consideration to be paid to the City, gross sales 
price of products, services or rental of space charged by the Concessionaire to its customer shall 
be used, excluding however therefrom all gratuities, service charge, state sales tax and other use 
taxes paid directly to Concessionaire's employees or to a public agency.  Service charge is 
defined as a fee charged as a percentage of the total food and beverage sales for Section 12 A, B, 
& C.  Gratuity is defined as an optional fee paid at the discretion of the customer.  In addition, 
there shall be excluded from the computation of said consideration charges by the 
Concessionaire to its customer, where the customer pays the entire amount for the purchase, 
rental, arrangement or other thing, secured by the Concessionaire on behalf of the customer, of 
items or services such as, but not limited to, tables, chairs, linen, glassware, silverware, flowers, 
ice carvings, decorations and/or entertainment.  Service charge is approved at twenty percent (20 
%).  Changes in the service charge must be submitted to the City in writing, for City's approval, 
which shall not be withheld unreasonably. 

D.  The consideration payable by the Concessionaire to the City shall be 
paid on a monthly basis as the same accrues during the term of this Agreement.  All payments 
shall be made not later than the 15th day of the month following the accrual of said consideration 
and shall be paid directly to the Director of Recreation and Community Services, 5050 Clark 
Avenue, P.O. Box 158, Lakewood, California, 90714.  In event the 15th falls on a nonbusiness 
day for the City, such payment shall be due the next working day.  Should Concessionaire fail to 
pay the amount due on or before the 15th day of the month following the month said amount 
accrued, Concessionaire agrees to pay, in addition, interest on the amount due at the rate of 
twelve percent (12 %) per annum, or the maximum legal rate, whichever is less. 

E.  If the Concessionaire, during a 12-month period should be late more 
than three (3) working days in payment of the consideration required in Section 12, 
Concessionaire shall reimburse the City for the expense of a solvency review should the City so 



 

9 
 

elect, and, in addition, in such a case, Concessionaire agrees to pay to City a late payment 
equivalent to one percent (1 %) of the monthly consideration determined due. 

F.  Concessionaire further authorizes the City to deduct any unpaid 
monthly consideration payable by Concessionaire to the City under Section 12 from 
Concessionaire's cash deposit if said consideration is more than three working days past due. 

G.  Failure to pay fees by no later than the 15th day of the month 
following the accrual of said consideration shall be considered a material breach of the contract. 

15. Reporting of Gross Sales and Rental Fees.  Concessionaire shall report 
monthly to the Director of Recreation and Community Services, in the time, form and manner 
prescribed by the Director of Administrative Services, all gross sales and rental fees charged or 
collected by Concessionaire during the preceding month.  Said report shall be filed with the 
Director of Recreation and Community Services on or before the 15th day of the month 
following said sale or rental.  In addition to any reasonable requirements imposed by the Director 
of Administrative Services, said report shall include: 

A.  A monthly summary report detailing gross sales and rental fees, in the 
form and fashion directed by the Director of Administrative Services.  Concessionaire shall, in 
addition, categorize all sales and rentals by type of event (e.g. wedding, baby shower, memorial) 
and type of product or service, (i.e., food, alcoholic beverages, miscellaneous).  Concessionaire 
shall provide City a copy of the final itemized invoices as submitted by Concessionaire to its 
customers. 

16. Breach, Default and Termination of Agreement.  Notwithstanding any 
provision of this Agreement to the contrary, this Agreement may be sooner terminated as 
follows: 

A.  In the event of a material breach of this Agreement by either party, the 
other party may terminate this Agreement with no right of cure, ten (10) days following the 
giving of notice of such breach and intent to terminate by such other party. 

B.  In addition, either party may terminate this agreement without cause on 
thirty (30) days' written notice. 

C.  The remedies set forth herein are cumulative. 

D. In the event of termination or expiration of this Agreement, 
Concessionaire shall pay to the City the appropriate consideration for all events and activities 
where Concessionaire provided services or products prior to the effective date of termination.  In 
addition, Concessionaire shall refund to patrons any payments received for events which were 
scheduled following the date of termination or expiration. 



 

10 
 

17. Additions, Alterations and Improvements.  Upon the termination of this 
Agreement, all changes, alterations, additions, repairs or improvements to or upon said premises 
by the Concessionaire shall become the property of the City.  Any trade fixtures, equipment, and 
other items brought in or installed within said buildings by Concessionaire, at its sole expense, 
which do not actually become a part of the buildings, may be removed by the Concessionaire 
during the term hereof, provided said removal does not damage said premises; and provided 
further that Concessionaire remove said personal property either by or before the date of 
termination of this Agreement; and provided further that, if Concessionaire has removed any of 
the foregoing, Concessionaire shall restore, in substantially the same condition, the interior and 
any fixtures of said premises which had been heretofore removed or altered for the installation of 
subsequent fixtures; and provided further that Concessionaire has faithfully performed the 
conditions and covenants of this agreement. 

18. Records and Books. 

A.  Concessionaire shall keep true and complete records and accounts of 
all business and sales transacted on, at or from the premises for a period of two (2) years. 
Concessionaire shall keep and preserve all sales slips, computer records, cash register tape 
readings, sales records, bank records, bank deposit slips and other evidence of gross sales and 
business transacted during the term of this Agreement. 

B.  Concessionaire agrees that as a part of said record keeping it shall 
provide, keep, maintain and use, at its own cost and expense, cash register or electronic 
equipment, which shall produce a continuous registering tape or permanent printed record for 
each, all and every sale and business transacted by the Concessionaire and shall maintain said 
records for a period of at least five years. 

C.  The Director of Administrative Services, or any other City officer or 
employee, as authorized by the City Council, shall have the right, at any time and from time to 
time, to audit all of the records of account, bank statements, documents, records, returns, papers, 
files and cash register tapes of the Concessionaire relating to gross sales and business transacted 
at the premises; and, on request by City, as aforementioned, Concessionaire shall make all such 
materials available for examination at the office of the City or at Concessionaire's place of 
business.  If the City should have an audit made for any portion of the term of this Agreement 
and the gross sales and business transacted shown by the Concessionaire's statement for such 
period should be found to be understated by more than five percent (5%), Concessionaire shall 
immediately pay to the City the cost of such audit as well as the additional consideration payable 
by Concessionaire to City; otherwise, the cost of such audit shall be paid by the City.  City's right 
to have such an audit made with respect to any portion of the term of this agreement shall expire 
twelve (12) months after the termination of this Agreement.  The right of audit and inspection 
hereunder shall include the right to audit or inspect sales tax returns. 



 

11 
 

19. Use of Premises.  Concessionaire agrees that these premises shall be used 
by Concessionaire solely for the purpose of maintaining and operating food and beverage 
services approved in writing by City. 

A.  Concessionaire agrees not to use or keep on the premises any article 
which the City or insurance companies may deem EXTRA HAZARDOUS, or which increases 
the rate of insurance. 

B.  City shall provide, and pay all charges for, electricity, gas, heat, air 
conditioning, sewer, and hot and cold domestic water services to the concession premises to the 
extent that such utilities are reasonably required during the duration of the contract, and are 
available as of the effective date of the contract.  Concessionaire is granted use of existing 
telephone equipment and service to conduct business while onsite.  Should Concessionaire desire 
an exclusive phone line, Concessionaire shall, at its sole expense, obtain and pay for all 
necessary telephone equipment and services. 

C.  Concessionaire shall be allowed to utilize space to the northwest of the 
Monte Verde Park building for the purpose of storage of equipment (i.e. banquet tables, chairs, 
linens, dinnerware), with the specified location and design to be approved by the City Architect. 

D. Concessionaire agrees to pay and discharge all LIENS AND 
OBLIGATIONS of any nature and kind whatsoever which shall attach to, or be imposed upon, 
said premises when created or incurred by said Concessionaire. 

E. Concessionaire shall not do anything on the premises that will cause 
damage to the buildings, structures or improvements.  Concessionaire shall not make changes, 
alterations, additions, repairs or improvements to or upon said premises without written 
permission of the City.  Concessionaire shall not install or operate any machinery, apparatus or 
appliance that will in any manner damage the premises or cause a public nuisance. 

F.  Concessionaire shall comply with all laws concerning the premises, or 
the Concessionaire's use of the premises.  Concessionaire shall not use the premises in any 
manner that will constitute a waste, nuisance, or unreasonable annoyance, including with 
limitation, the use of loudspeakers or sound, or light apparatus that can be seen or heard outside 
the premises to the reasonable annoyance of the owners or occupants of adjacent properties, or to 
the City. 

G.  The City shall have the right, at all reasonable times, to enter the 
premises for the purpose of determining compliance with this Agreement; for the purpose of 
inspecting or repairing said premises; for any other reasonable purpose in the protection of the 
property of the City; or in securing compliance with the provisions of this Agreement.  Such 
entry may be made without the knowledge or consent of the Concessionaire and may be 
conducted in the exercise of reasonable discretion at times when said concession is not in 



 

12 
 

operation provided City within twenty-four (24) hours, when at all possible, has filed with 
Concessionaire a written report of the same. 

H.  Concessionaire acknowledges that use of the premises shall at all times 
be in a manner commensurate with and appropriate with the public use of publicly owned 
property.  Concessionaire shall not authorize, allow or tolerate any use of said premises for any 
unlawful or illegal purpose.  In addition, Concessionaire agrees not to allow or authorize the use 
of said premises wherein any loud or offensive conduct, or use thereof, is or may be detrimental 
or annoying to the general public utilizing said facilities or adjoining premises or facilities. 
Concessionaire further agrees that it will immediately, upon demand of the City Manager or any 
law enforcement officer, close said facility and order all persons, other than City officers and 
employees or its employees, from said premises in the event of the occurrence of any event or 
activity deemed by the City Manager or any law enforcement officer, to be illegal, in violation of 
state law, in violation of any local ordinance, or which is being conducted in a loud, or obscene, 
boisterous, raucous or offensive manner so as to be offensive to the public or constitute a 
nuisance.  Concessionaire further agrees to abide by any order or direction of the City Manager 
or any law enforcement officer, requesting, demanding, ordering or directing the termination of 
the use of said premises and the vacation thereof, forthwith, by all persons other than City 
officers and employees or Concessionaire and employees.  Failure of Concessionaire to 
cooperate with City in the enforcement of this provision shall be a material breach of this 
Agreement. 

20. Kitchen Equipment and Dinnerware.  The City owns all Kitchen 
Equipment located at Monte Verde Park.  The City shall replace or repair the City-owned items 
which need to be replaced or repaired due to normal wear-and-tear; Concessionaire shall 
reimburse the City for the cost of repairing or replacing the City owned items which need to be 
replaced or repaired due to improper maintenance or misuse, within 30 days of invoicing by the 
City.  Concessionaire  shall  exercise  all  reasonable  care  in  its  use  of City-owned property or 
equipment, and shall notify the City promptly of any items which need to be replaced or 
repaired, whether or not due to normal wear-and-tear.  

21. Signs. 

A. Concessionaire shall not erect, construct or place any signs or 
advertisements pertaining to its concession rights and operations in or on any portion of the 
premises without the express written permission of the City.  Prior to the erection, construction 
or placing of any signs or advertising matter upon the concession premises, Concessionaire shall 
submit to the City, for its approval in writing, the drawings, sketches, design, dimensions, type 
and character of the sign or advertising matter.  Any conditions, restrictions or limitations with 
respect to the use of these signs, stated by the City in its written approval, shall become 
conditions of the contract as if specifically set forth herein. 



 

13 
 

22. Upkeep and Maintenance of Concession Premises and Equipment. 

A. The concession premises and all equipment and materials used by 
Concessionaire shall be maintained in a clean and sanitary condition, free from rubbish, refuse, 
food scraps, garbage, dust, dirt, offensive or unclean materials, roaches and other insects, rodents 
and vermin, in accordance with the best sanitary practices, and in full compliance with all 
applicable Health Department regulations. 

B. Concessionaire shall utilize only leak proof containers when 
transporting liquids in, about, or around the premises.  Concessionaire shall immediately clean 
up and dry any surface onto which liquids have spilled and shall use their best efforts to prevent 
additional spillage.   In addition, following any catered event, Concessionaire shall evaluate all 
floor surfaces and spot clean any areas as needed. 

C.  All food service materials, including, but not limited to, china, 
glassware, flatware, containers, and other such enclosures used to contain individual food or 
beverage portions, shall be clean and stored so as to be protected from dust, dirt, roaches and 
other insects, rodents, vermin, and from unsanitary handling and unclean materials. 

D. Concessionaire shall, during and immediately following each event, 
remove from the concession premises all rubbish, refuse, food scraps, and garbage to a location 
specified by the City for refuse storage and pickup.  City shall arrange and pay for the removal 
and disposal of such refuse from the specified storage area. 

E.  City shall provide, at its cost and expense, pest control service for the 
extermination of specified insects and other pests from the concession premises.  Concessionaire 
shall provide and allow complete access to the premises as required by the schedule for 
extermination services. 

F.  Concessionaire shall not do, nor permit to be done, anything that may 
unreasonably interfere with the effectiveness of air-conditioning systems within the concession 
premises or elsewhere in the facilities.  Concessionaire shall not obstruct, or cause to be 
obstructed, any portion of the sidewalks, entries, passageways, vestibules, halls, or other ways of 
access to the premises for any purpose other than the immediate ingress, egress, loading or 
unloading to or from the premises. 

G.  Except as provided heretofore, City, at its own cost and in its 
discretion, shall maintain in good condition and repair Monte Verde Park, including the 
concession premises.  The City shall maintain and repair the structural part of the premises 
consisting of the foundation bearing and exterior walls, glass and doors, flooring, sub-flooring, 
roof, electrical, plumbing and sewage systems including without limitation the Concession Area, 
the Non-Concession areas and other portions of Monte Verde Park, as well as all personal 
property including tables, chairs, dollies and racks used by the Concessionaire.  The City has the 



 

14 
 

right to restrict Concessionaire's use of the facility when maintenance, repair or project work 
needs to be conducted.  When at all possible, the City will provide adequate advanced notice of 
said maintenance and repair schedules.  If appropriate, the City will adjust the Consideration 
section of this agreement during the project. 

H.  Concessionaire agrees not to clean or wash down equipment anywhere 
on the premises.  In addition, the kitchen floor may not be cleaned using a hose or any other 
method where the water/liquid is not able to be contained. 

23. Concessionaire Employees. 

A. Concessionaire employees shall be admitted to the premises in 
accordance with rules and regulations established by the City Manager. 

B. Concessionaire agrees to employ only responsible persons who are 
mentally competent and able to verbally communicate effectively to the general public. 
Concessionaire shall not, during the term of this Agreement, employ any child or labor in 
violation of the provisions of the laws of the state of California.  In the event the City Manager 
should deem any person employed by the Concessionaire as being incompetent or guilty of 
conduct inimical to the general welfare of the public or unsuited for the proper maintenance of 
such premises, in serving and meeting the demands of the general public, Concessionaire shall 
immediately remove such person from, the premises. 

C. Employees of the Concessionaire shall, at all times, be neatly and 
cleanly uniformed.   

D.  Concessionaire shall train and closely supervise all employees so that 
they are aware of and continually practice high standards of cleanliness, courtesy and service. 
Concessionaire will provide an adequate number of personnel to the facility to properly serve 
and attend to the patrons.  Concessionaire shall meet the guidelines dictated by the California 
Health and Safety Code Section 113947-113948 and California SB 602, i.e., regarding food 
safety and food handler certification.  Concessionaire will keep and make available 
documentation of Food Handler Certifications onsite at all times. 

E. Concessionaire shall not in any employment practice discriminate 
against any person by reason of religion, race, color, sex, age or handicap. 

F.   All employees shall be promptly paid for services rendered in the time 
and manner required by law and payment shall be made by check or draft.  If for any reason an 
employee should be compensated in cash, a receipt shall be obtained from the employee for such 
compensation. 

G.  As and where required by law or labor agreement, Concessionaire 
shall deduct from the salary or compensation paid to an employee withholding for taxes, health, 



 

15 
 

or pension or other benefits and shall account to the City or employee upon reasonable demand 
as to the amounts so withheld. 

H. Concessionaire where required by law shall provide Workers' 
Compensation Insurance covering each employee. 

I. Concessionaire shall provide and regularly schedule employees to help 
its clients with their set-up and special needs upon their arrival on the site for and during 
concession services. 

24. Permits and Licenses. 

A.  Concessionaire and its employees shall, at their sole cost and expense, 
comply with the requirements of all City, County, State and Federal authorities now in force, or 
which may hereafter be in force, pertaining to the concession premises, or the operations 
conducted thereon, and shall faithfully observe, and secure observance with, in the use of the 
concession premises, all City ordinances and State and Federal statutes now in force, or which 
may hereafter be in force. 

B.  The licenses and permits to be secured and maintained in current 
standing by Concessionaire and/or Concessionaire's employees shall include, but not be limited 
to: 

(1) City of Lakewood business license; 

(2) County of Los Angeles Health Department permit for a food and 
beverage operation; 

(3) County of Los Angeles Health Department food handler permits; 

(4) California State Alcoholic Beverage Control Board liquor license; and 

(5) California State Board of Equalization sellers permit. 

25. Insurance Requirements. Concessionaire shall procure and maintain 
general liability insurance against any and all losses, costs, expenses, claims, liabilities, actions, 
or damages, including liability for injuries to any person or persons, damage to property, or 
product liability arising at any time during and/or arising out of or in any way connected with 
Concessionaire's use or occupancy of the City's facilities and adjoining property. 

Concessionaire shall, at all times during the term of this Agreement, maintain and keep in full 
force and effect, the following policies of insurance with minimum limits as indicated below and 
issued by insurers with A.M. Best ratings of no less than A-: VI: 



 

16 
 

A.  Commercial general liability at least as broad as ISO CG 0001 (per 
occurrence) $1,000,000 (general aggregate) $2,000,000; Commercial auto liability at least as 
broad as ISO CA 0001 (per accident) $1,000,000. 

B.  All insurance policies, shall be in form and content satisfactory to the 
City, copies of which shall be submitted to the City for review; and the policies shall designate 
the City of Lakewood, its officers and employees, as co-insureds. 

C.  All policies are to be kept in force during the full term of the contract, 
and further, contain a rider that the policies are non-cancelable without thirty (30) days prior 
written notice to the parties insured, including the City of Lakewood. 

D. Concessionaire shall provide, or cause to be provided, full and 
complete copies of all insurance policies to City upon their execution.  Simple certificates of 
insurance shall not suffice for this purpose. 

E.  Concessionaire shall report any personal injuries or property damage 
arising at any time during and/or arising out of or in any way connected with Concessionaire's 
use or occupancy of the City's facilities and adjoining property to the City Manager or his/her 
designee, in writing and as soon as practicable. 

F. Concessionaire waives any right of recovery against the City, its 
officers, employees, and agents for fires, floods, earthquakes, civil disturbances, regulation of 
any public authority, and other causes beyond the their control.  Concessionaire shall not charge 
results of "acts of God" to the City, its officers, employees, or agents. 

G. Concessionaire waives any right of recovery against the City, its 
officers, employees, and agents for indemnification, contribution, or declaratory relief arising out 
of or in any way connected with Concessionaire's use or occupancy of the Facility and adjoining 
property, even if the City, its officers, employees, or agents seek recovery against 
Concessionaire. 

26. Liability and Indemnification.  Concessionaire agrees to reimburse, 
defend or indemnify and save the City, the City Council, its officers and employees free and 
harmless from any claim, suit or action brought by any person or persons, including its agents or 
employees, or subcontractors or the agents or employees thereof, or its guests, licensees, invitees, 
patrons or clientele, for or on account of any injury, death or damage to person or property 
sustained because of or arising out of any conditions thereof caused by Concessionaire. 
Concessionaire waives, as consideration for this Agreement, any right it may have to seek 
indemnity or other relief against City by reason of any judgment against it or payment by it 
arising out of any such claim, suit, accident or occurrence, or as a joint tort feasor. 



 

17 
 

Nothing herein contained shall be construed to relieve the City from any duty and obligation it 
may have to maintain said premises, including the concession premises as provided in this 
Agreement and City agrees to reimburse, defend or indemnify and save the Concessionaire, its 
officers and employees free and harmless from any claim, suit or action brought by any person or 
persons including its agents or employees, or subcontractors or the employees thereof, or any 
member of the public, for or on account of any injury, death or damage to any person or property 
sustained because of or arising out of any condition of public property required to be maintained 
by the City or any act or omission of any City officer or employee except as follows: 

A.  Where the loss or damage arises out of any act or omission of the 
Concessionaire, its agents, employees or subcontractors or agents, invitees or guests. 

B.  The loss or damage arises out of the failure of the Concessionaire to 
perform any duty or obligation bestowed on it by this Agreement. 

27. Taxes.  Concessionaire shall pay and discharge before delinquency all 
taxes, if any, and assessments which may be levied during the term of this Agreement as a result 
of Concessionaire's operations hereunder. 

Concessionaire acknowledges that the real property and improvements and other facilities of 
City are exempt from taxation.  If, by reason of this Concession Agreement, a possessory interest 
subject to property tax is levied, Concessionaire acknowledges and does hereby agree to pay and 
assume the same when due and owing and hold the City free and harmless from liability thereon. 

In this regard, the following notice is given to Concessionaire: 

NOTICE: 

Pursuant to Section 107.6 of the California Revenue and Taxation Code, a possessory interest as 
defined in Revenue and Taxation Code 107 and 107.4 may be created by this Agreement, and 
may be subject to property taxation, in which event the private party to this Agreement in which 
a possessory interest is vested may be subject to the payment of property tax levied on such 
interest. 

Nothing herein contained shall be construed as an acknowledgment by the parties that this 
Agreement creates a possessory interest. 

28. Time of the Essence.  Time is of the essence of each and all of the terms 
and provisions of this contract, and this contract shall inure, to the benefit of and be binding 
upon, the parties hereto and any successors of Concessionaire as fully and to the same extent, as 
though specifically mentioned in each instance, and all covenants, stipulations and Agreements 
in this contract shall extend to and bind any assigns of Concessionaire. 



 

18 
 

29. Independent Contractor.  It is expressly understood and agreed that 
Concessionaire is an independent contractor as distinguished from an employee or agent of the 
City in the performance of services hereunder.  Concessionaire acknowledges the independent 
contractual relationship and releases the City from any liability or obligation to make deductions 
or withholding for the compensation of any officer, agent or employee thereof in respect to 
unemployment, income tax, disability, social security, health, pension or retirement benefits.  It 
is expressly understood no officer, agent or employee of Concessionaire shall have any City 
status or benefit, including health, retirement and worker's compensation benefits. 

Concessionaire acknowledges its independent contractor status in performing all services under 
this Agreement and assumes the risk to itself, all agents, employees, subcontractors, their agents 
or employees, its licensees, permittees and guests of personal injury or death and all risk of 
property damage or loss of any property arising out of the performance of any services or the use 
of the premises during the term of this Agreement. 

30. Assignment Prohibited.  Concessionaire shall not mortgage, hypothecate 
or otherwise encumber or assign its right, privileges or obligations, pursuant to the provisions of 
this contract, nor shall Concessionaire sublet or sublease the concession premises in whole or in 
part without the written consent of the City.  Any attempted assignment, mortgaging, 
hypothecation or encumbering of the rights, privileges or obligations or any subletting or 
subleasing of the whole or any part of the concession premises, or other violations of the 
provisions of this section shall be null and void and shall confer no right, title or interest in or to 
this contract, or right of occupancy of the whole or any portion of the concession premises, upon 
any such assignee, mortgagee, encumbrancer, pledgee or other lien holder, sub-tenant, successor 
or purchaser.  Consent by the City to one assignment, mortgage, hypothecation, encumbrance or 
sublease shall not be deemed to be a consent to any subsequent assignment, mortgage, 
hypothecation, encumbrance or sublease. 

31.    Nondiscrimination.  In connection with the execution of this Agreement, 
"Concessionaire shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment 
because of race, religion, color, sex, age, national origin, or because an otherwise qualified 
person is handicapped.  Concessionaire shall take affirmative action to ensure that applicants are 
employed and that employees are treated during their employment without regard to their race, 
religion, color, sex, age, national origin, or handicap.  Such action shall include but is not limited 
to employment, upgrading, demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertisement; 
layoff or termination; rate of pay or other forms of compensation, and selection for training 
including apprenticeship.  "Concessionaire shall comply with the requirements of Title VI of the 
Civil Rights Act of 1974 (P.L. 88-352) and with all applicable regulations, statutes, laws 
promulgated pursuant thereto now existent or hereinafter enacted.  Furthermore, Concessionaire 
shall comply with the provisions of Section 1735 of the California Labor Code.  



 

19 
 

Concessionaire shall also comply with the requirements of 29 U.S.C. 794 and 31 U.S.C. 6716 
and the regulations promulgated thereunder, including Regulation 51.52 promulgated by the 
Office of Revenue Sharing of the United States Treasury.  As used herein, handicapped 
individual means any individual who has a physical or mental disability which for such 
individual constitutes or results in a substantial handicap to employment and can reasonably be 
expected to benefit in terms of employability from vocational rehabilitation services provided 
pursuant to the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. 701), as presently defined in section 706 
thereof, or as hereinafter amended. 

32. Additional Conditions. 

A.  Building Security.  City provides for a building security system. 
Concessionaire will follow the City's policy and procedures related to the security of the 
building. 

B. Facility Reservation Technology.  Concessionaire shall provide the 
City with documentation in specified format and in accordance with City policy to document the 
name of permit holder and type of permit for Monte Verde Park reservations, within four (4) 
business days of booking. 

C.  Health Department Rating.  Concessionaire agrees to achieve and 
maintain throughout the contract period a Los Angeles County Department of Health Services 
Restaurant Rating of "A" as determined by the County Health Officer.   The City considers a Los 
Angeles County Department of Health Services letter grade score of less than "A" unsatisfactory. 
If a lower grade is received, Concessionaire agrees to immediately request a re-inspection at 
Concessionaire's expense and to undertake all practical measures within Concessionaire's control 
or remedy any issue that prevents an "A" grade.   Failure to restore an "A" grade rating within a 
period of thirty (30) days shall constitute a "material" breach of this Agreement.  

D.  Quarterly Performance Evaluation.  Concessionaire acknowledges that 
City shall have the right to conduct a quarterly performance evaluation of Concessionaire's 
compliance and performance under this Agreement.   Concessionaire agrees to cooperate in the 
preparation of said report and to make available to the City its books and records and to supply 
other information reasonably needed by the City to prepare such report. 

E.  Alcohol Management.  Concessionaire shall demonstrate at all times 
to the City the strictest controls over alcohol inventory, alcohol revenue recordkeeping and 
serving guidelines: 

1. Make available for City inspection a record of alcohol purchases and event usages 
 that correspond to event alcohol sales. 
 
2. Demonstrate strict controls for alcohol inventory storage.  



 

20 
 

3. If alcohol is to be stored onsite, inventory must be stored solely in Concessionaire’s 
approved storage facility.  

4. Establish an agreed-upon set of specifications for "pour" amounts for beer, wine and 
 spirits. 
 
5. Ensure that all bartenders/servers have been educated/certified via an approved 

alcohol training course as mandated by the State of California. 
 

33. Notices.  Any notice provided for by this contract or by law to be given, 
served or exercised by or upon Concessionaire may be given or served by depositing in the 
United States mail, postage prepaid, a letter addressed to Concessionaire at such address as 
Concessionaire shall designate in writing, or may be personally served upon said Concessionaire, 
or any person hereafter authorized by Concessionaire to receive such notice; and any notice 
provided for by this contract to be given, served or exercised by or upon City may be given or 
served by depositing in the United States mail, postage prepaid, a letter addressed to the City 
Clerk, City of Lakewood, 5050 Clark Avenue, P.O. Box 158, Lakewood, California 90714 or 
may be personally served upon said City Clerk.   Any notice or notices given or served as 
provided herein shall be effectual and binding for all purposes upon the principals of the parties 
so served. 

34. Waiver.  The waiver by City of any breach of any term, covenant, or 
condition herein contained shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such term, covenant, or 
condition, or any subsequent breach of the same or any other term, covenant, or condition herein 
contained.  The subsequent acceptance of concession fees hereunder by City shall not be deemed 
to be a waiver of any preceding breach by Concessionaire of any term, covenant, or condition of 
this contract, other than failure of Concessionaire to pay the concession fees so accepted, 
regardless of the City's knowledge of such preceding breach at the time of acceptance of such 
concession fees, nor shall any failure on the part of City to require or exact full and complete 
compliance with any of the covenants, conditions and Agreements of this contract be construed 
as in manner changing the terms hereof, nor shall the terms of this contract be changed or altered 
in any manner whatsoever other than by written Agreement of the City and Concessionaire. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

21 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of 
the date first set forth above. 

 

DATED: , 2018  CITY OF LAKEWOOD 

 

 By  

 MAYOR 

ATTEST: 

  

CITY CLERK 

 

DATED:  , 2018 By:  

       THANK GOODNESS IT'S SOFIA 

       CATERING SERVICES, INC. 

       SOFIA RILEY, PRESIDENT 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

  

CITY ATTORNEY 

 

 





3.2 

         COUNCIL AGENDA 
October 9, 2018 

 
 
 

TO:  The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT: Lakewood Meals on Wheels Agreement – First Amendment  
 
 
INTRODUCTION 
The City of Lakewood has had a partnership with Lakewood Meals on Wheels since 1975.   
Lakewood Meals on Wheels provides home delivery of nutritional meals to the elderly, disabled, 
and convalescing, thereby reducing or eliminating the need for premature or prolonged 
institutionalization.   
 
STATEMENT OF FACT 
The city entered into an agreement with Lakewood Meals on Wheels in 1995 and has determined 
that providing subsidized meals to low income Lakewood residents and reimbursement to 
volunteer drivers for mileage, is a public purpose, and for the general welfare and benefit. 
 
The current agreement is due to terminate June 30, 2019, however following the building 
construction improvements at the Burns Community Center, two conditions have changed from 
the original agreement: 
 

1. The assembly room onsite at the Burns Community Center is no longer a space allotted for 
operations of Lakewood Meals on Wheels, as a newly remodeled kitchen space affords 
ample space in a singular devoted area. 

2. The City of Lakewood purchased a new steam table for use of food preparation.  The 
amendment changes language to reflect that the steam table is owned by the City of 
Lakewood. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Upon approval of the City Attorney as to form, it is staff’s recommendation that the City Council 
authorize the Mayor to sign the first amendment to the Rental Agreement with Lakewood Meals 
on Wheels. 
 
        
Valarie Frost, Director  Thaddeus McCormack 
Recreation and Community Services         City Manager 



Exhibit “A” 

City of Lakewood – Burns Community Center 

1st Floor – Map 

Tenant Areas include:  
Kitchen (Room 104), Staging (Room 105), Storage (Room 101), Office Space (Room 110) 

 

 

 



FIRST AMENDMENT TO 

RENTAL AGREEMENT WITH LAKEWOOD MEALS ON WHEELS  

 This amendment made and entered into with an effective date of October 9, 2018, amends that the 
“Rental Agreement with Lakewood Meals on Wheels” (the “Agreement”) made and entered into on July 
1, 2014, by and between the City of Lakewood (the “City”) and Lakewood Meals on Wheels (the 
“Tenant”). 

 The parties hereby agree to the following amendments to the agreement: 

A. Commencing on October 9, 2018 the portion of space in the assembly room described in 
Section 2 will be removed from the agreement. Tenant will have access to one office space 
and the kitchen space as shown in Exhibit “A”, attached hereto. 

B.  New “Exhibit A” is attached hereto. 

C.  Commencing on October 9, 2018 the steam table described in Section 3 will be removed from 
the agreement.  Tenant shall use the steam table provided by the City on a daily basis.  The City 
shall also provide basic maintenance of the steam table.   

Except as set forth herein, the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

Based on the mutual promises contained in the Agreement and in this Amendment, and intending 
to be legally bound, the parties have executed this Amendment, below, as of the date first set forth above. 

 

CITY OF LAKEWOOD 

________________________ 

Mayor 

 

Attest: 

_______________________ 

City Clerk 

 

Approved as to form: 

________________________ 

City Attorney 

 

LAKEWOOD MEALS ON WHEELS 

________________________ 

Director 





 









 

 






	9 October 2018 City Council Agenda
	RI-1, City Council Minutes
	RI-2, Personnel Transactions
	RI-3, Registers of Demands
	RI-4, Resolution No. 2018-62; Terms of City Commissioners
	2.1, Ordinance No. 2018-6, Commercial Carwashes
	2.2, Ordinance No. 2018-7; Short-term Rentals 
	2.3, Ordinance No. 2018-8; City Council Compensation 
	3.1, TGIS Catered Events at Monte Verde Park
	3.2, First Amendment to Lakewood Meals on Wheels Agreement
	LSA-1, Register of Demands
	LHSA-1, Register of Demands 

	Back to Top: 


